
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Alexandria Division 

_____________________________________ 

 

MARGARET CROWLEY, MARGARET 

JONAS, FRANCINE JUPITER, JAY 

JUPITER, individually and on behalf of all 

others similarly situated, 

    Plaintiff,  

v. 

 

OFFIT KURMAN, P.C., d/b/a OFFIT 

KURMAN, P.A., 

Serve:  Corporation Service Company, 

  Registered Agent 

 Bank of America Center,16th Floor 

 1111 East Main Street 

 Richmond, VA 23219 

    Defendant. 

_____________________________________
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[PROPOSED] CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

The Plaintiffs, MARGARET CROWLEY, MARGARET JONAS, FRANCINE 

JUPITER, and JAY JUPITER (“Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, by counsel, states as follows as and for their Class Complaint against the Defendants, 

OFFIT KURMAN, P.C., d/b/a OFFIT KURMAN, P.A., and alleges as follows: 

Jurisdiction 

1. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  

Supplemental jurisdiction exists for state claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.  

Parties 

2. Plaintiff Margaret Crowley (“Ms. Crowley”) is a natural person who resides in 

Fairfax County, Virginia.  She is a retired schoolteacher.  Ms. Crowley is the owner of record of 

real property located at 6631 Wakefield Drive, Unit 201, Alexandria, Virginia (“Unit 201”), 

which is situated within a condominium association, River Towers Condominium Association 
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(“River Towers”).  She is a “consumer” within the meaning of the FDCPA, as defined at 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(3).  Unit 201 is and was her domicile and primary residence. 

3. Plaintiff Margaret Jonas (“Ms. Jonas”) is a natural person who resides in Fairfax 

County, Virginia.  Ms. Crowley is the owner of record of real property located at 6641 

Wakefield Drive, Unit 610, Alexandria, Virginia (“Unit 610”), which is situated within River 

Towers Condominium Association.  She is a “consumer” within the meaning of the FDCPA, as 

defined at 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).  Unit 610 is and was her domicile and primary residence. 

4. Plaintiff Francine Jupiter (“Ms. Jupiter”) and Jay Jupiter (“Mr. Jupiter”) are 

natural persons who reside in Fairfax County, Virginia.  They are the owners of record of real 

property located at 6641 Wakefield Drive, Unit 107, Alexandria, Virginia (“Unit 107”), which is 

situated within River Towers Condominium Association.  They are each a “consumer” within the 

meaning of the FDCPA, as defined at 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).  There are Fairfax County residents 

and Unit 107 is one of their residences. 

5. Defendant Offit Kurman, P.C., d/b/a Offit Kurman, P.A. (“Defendant Law Firm”) 

is a professional corporation organized under the laws of Maryland with a principal place of 

business at 8171 Maple Lawn Boulevard, Suite 200, Fulton, MD 20759.    

6. Defendant Law Firm collects debts, performs residential foreclosures, and 

provides litigation services on behalf of financial institutions, contractors, and landlords, among 

others.   

7. On its website, Defendant Law firm markets itself as providing debt collection 

services with respect to construction law, including,“Offit Kurman Attorneys At Law represents 

clients with respect to claims for payment, claims relating to extra work, claims for changes, and 

claims for delays and lost profits.”  It also markets itself as collecting debts in the fields of 
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bankruptcy and restructuring, advertising that, “Our team has substantial and diverse experience 

representing secured and unsecured creditors, creditors’ committees, landlords, trustees, debtors, 

and other parties in Chapter 11 bankruptcy reorganizations, bankruptcy liquidations, as well as 

out-of-court restructurings and workouts.”   

8. Defendant Law Firm also markets itself as performing consumer debt collection 

stating, “Offit Kurman offers the experience and expertise to ensure that the client's opportunity 

for financial return is secure.  [Defendant Law Firm] processes thousands of cases every month 

for residential and commercial ‘failure to pay rent’ suits; filing electronically where authorized, 

and making nearly daily court appearances to expedite our clients’ ability to collect overdue 

rent.”   

9. In the course of its work, Defendant Law Firm regularly collects debts on behalf 

of third parties from consumers located across the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Defendant 

moreover uses one or more instrumentalities of interstate commerce or the mails in a business 

the principal purpose of which is the collection of debts.  It was and is a “debt collector” within 

the meaning of 16 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

Statement of Facts  

Background 

10. River Towers Condominium Unit Owners Association, Inc. is the condominium 

unit owners’ association for River Towers Condominium, which includes three separate 

condominium buildings located at 6621, 6631 and 6641 Wakefield Drive, Alexandria, VA 

22307, including Plaintiffs’ Units.  It is a “unit owners association” subject to the Virginia 

Condominium Act, Va. Code Ann. § 55-79.39 et seq.   
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11. On or about Sunday, October 2, 2016, one of the three condo buildings of Rivers 

Tower Condominium – 6631 Wakefield Drive -- partially collapsed, the structure sank and 

shifted several inches, damaging approximately 180 condominium units.  The building was 

evacuated and the unit owners were displaced. 

12. Plaintiff Margaret Crowley was forced to find temporary housing by the collapse. 

13. The Minkoff Company, Inc. (“Minkoff”) appeared at the site to perform property 

stabilization and restoration services following the collapse. 

14. River Towers and its insurer Travelers had a payment dispute with Minkoff. 

15. On August 11, 2017, Defendant Law Firm caused to be recorded a Memorandum 

of Mechanic’s Lien Claimed by General Contractor (the “Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien”), 

on behalf of the Minkoff, in the land records of Fairfax County, Virginia.  A true and accurate 

copy of the Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 1. 

16. The Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien asserts a mechanic’s lien against 

Defendant River Towers as well as on over 500 unit owners of the condominium individually, 

including Ms. Crowley, the Jupiters, and Ms. Jonas.   

17. The Memorandum includes an attachment, EXHIBIT 1 Exhibit A, which 

purportedly “apportions the amount of this lien ($272,936.39) by condominium unit.  All 

amounts include overhead and profit.”  The Memorandum further asserts that, “The lien is 

sought on the listed unit owners’ interest in their units and the common elements appurtenant to 

all three buildings.”  See EXHIBIT 1 at p.2. 

18. The individual unit owners, including Plaintiffs, have no contract with the 

Minkoff.  There is no privity of contract between the Minkoff and the individual owners, 

including Plaintiffs. 
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19. Mr. Jupiter faxed a letter to Defendant Law Firm requesting validation and 

backup information regarding the alleged lien. 

20. Defendant Law Firm never responded to Mr. Jupiter’s request. 

Offit Kurman Defendants’ FDCPA Violations 

21. The Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien and each service and mailing of such 

document are “communications” in connection with the collection of “debts” as defined and 

governed by the FDCPA, as such terms are defined in 15 USC § 1692(a).  See, e.g., Randall v. 

Paul, 2017 Minn. App. LEXIS 80, *15 (Minn. Ct. App. June 19, 2017). 

22. Defendant Law Firm violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) by failing to provide Plaintiffs 

a written notice within 5 days after their initial communication containing the disclosures required 

by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) et seq.   

23. Defendant Law Firm violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2, 5, 10) and 

1692f(1), by making false, deceptive, and/or misleading representations in connection with the 

collection of debt, including without limitation: 

a. That Plaintiffs are indebted to the Minkoff; 

b. That Minkoff furnished materials and labor relating to scaffolding (rental 

equipment) for Plaintiffs; 

c. That the work “thus benefitted the common elements and units in all three 

buildings commonly known as 6621, 6631 and 6641 Wakefield Drive, Alexandria, VA 22307,” 

including Plaintiffs; 

d. That the Minkoff is entitled to a mechanic’s lien against Plaintiffs for a 

proportionate share of such amount; and 

e. That the mechanic’s lien is enforceable against Plaintiffs’ units. 
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24. The Defendant Law Firm’s misrepresentations with respect to the amount owed, 

and the above collection actions taken were part of a pattern and practice of attempting to collect 

amounts in excess of the amount actually due, or not legally authorized, in violation of Virginia 

law.  Upon information and belief the same mechanics lien was sent to all unit owners of River 

Towers.  Each such instance that the Defendant Law Firm’s misrepresented the debt and/or 

failed to give the required 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) disclosures violated the FDCPA. 

25. Defendant Law Firm’s actions cost Plaintiffs substantial time, imposed a cloud on 

the title of their homes, and caused them emotional distress. 

Class Action Allegations 

26. Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs brings this 

action for themselves and on behalf of a “River Towers Class” initially defined as follows: 

All natural persons who are unit owners of a condominium unit within River 

Towers Condominium, in Alexandria, Virginia, to whom on or after August 11, 

2017 the Defendant Law Firm mailed a memorandum of mechanic’s lien, on behalf 

of Minkoff. 

 

27. Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs bring this 

action for themselves and on behalf of a “Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien” Class initially 

defined as follows: 

All natural persons who are unit owners of a condominium unit within River 

Towers Condominium, in Alexandria, Virginia, to whom on or after August 11, 

2017 the Defendant Law Firm mailed a memorandum of mechanic’s lien, on behalf 

of Minkoff. 

 

28. Numerosity. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1).  Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs 

allege that the class members are so numerous that joinder of all is impractical.  The names and 

addresses of the class members are identifiable through the internal business records maintained 

by the Defendant, as well as through the public records of the land records of Circuit Courts in 
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the Commonwealth of Virginia, and the class members may be notified of the pendency of this 

action by published and/or mailed notice.  

29. Predominance of Common Questions of Law and Fact.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(a)(2).  Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the putative class, and 

there are no complex factual issues, and no legal issues, that differ between the putative class 

members. These questions predominate over the questions affecting only individual class 

members.  Predominant legal questions include, by example only and without limitation: whether 

the initial correspondences sent to consumers complied with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a); whether 

Defendant’s demand for collection costs, attorneys’ fees and late fees were lawful in Virginia; 

and whether the amounts claimed were misrepresented.  

30. Actual Damages.  Actual damages in this case are uniformly determined as the 

amount of money collected by the Defendant in collection costs, attorneys’ fees and/or late fees 

that was greater than that permitted under Virginia law.   

31. Typicality.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(3).  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims 

of each putative class member.  In addition, Plaintiffs are entitled to relief under the same causes 

of action as the other members of the putative class.  

32. Adequacy of Representation.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4).  Plaintiffs are adequate 

representatives of the putative class, because their interests coincide with, and are not 

antagonistic to, the interests of the members of the Class they seek to represent; they have 

retained counsel competent and experienced in such litigation; and they have and intend to 

continue to prosecute the action vigorously.  Plaintiffs and their counsel will fairly and 

adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class.  
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33. Superiority.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).  Questions of law and fact common to the 

Class members predominate over questions affecting only individual members, and a class action 

is superior to other available methods for fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.  The 

damages sought by each member are such that individual prosecution would prove burdensome 

and expensive, given the complex and extensive litigation necessitated by Defendant’s conduct.  

It would be virtually impossible for members of the Class individually to effectively redress the 

wrongs done to them.  Even if the members of the Class themselves could afford such individual 

litigation, it would be an unnecessary burden on the Courts.  Furthermore, individualized 

litigation presents a potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments and increases the delay 

and expense to all parties and to the court system presented by the complex legal and factual 

issues raised by the Defendant’s conduct.  By contrast, the class action device will result in 

substantial benefits to the litigants and the Court by allowing the Court to resolve numerous 

individual claims based upon a single set of proof in a case.   

34. Injunctive Relief Appropriate for the Class.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).  Class 

certification is appropriate because the Defendant acted on grounds generally applicable to the 

Class, making appropriate equitable injunctive relief with respect to the Plaintiffs and the Class 

members.  

COUNT I - VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a) 

(Class Claim, and On Behalf of Each Plaintiff On an Individual Basis) 

 

35. Plaintiffs restate each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein. 

36. Defendant Law Firm violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) by failing to provide 

consumers a written notice within 5 days after their initial communication containing the 

disclosures required by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) et seq.   
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37. Plaintiffs and the putative class members are therefore entitled to actual and 

statutory damages against Defendant Law Firm, as well as their reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.  

COUNT II - VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692e 

(Class Claim, and On Behalf of Each Plaintiff On an Individual Basis) 

 

38. Plaintiffs restate each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein.  

39. Plaintiffs are each a “consumer” as such term is defined in 15 USC § 1692(a)(1). 

40. Defendant Law Firm is a “debt collector” as such term is defined in 15 USC § 

1692(a)(6). 

41. The monies the Defendant Law Firm sought to recover are “debts” as such term is 

defined in 15 USC § 1692(a)(5). 

42. The Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien and each service and mailing of such 

document are “communications” as such term is defined in 15 USC § 1692(a)(2).   

43. Defendant Law Firm violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e by making false, deceptive, 

and/or misleading representations in connection with the collection of debt.   

44. Section 15 U.S.C. § 1692k of the FDCPA provides that Plaintiffs and the putative 

class members may recover statutory damages up to $1000, their actual damages, attorney’s fees 

and costs.   

45. Plaintiffs and the putative class members are therefore entitled to actual and 

statutory damages against Defendant Law Firm, as well as their reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

COUNT II – VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)  

(Class Claim, and On Behalf of Each Plaintiff On an Individual Basis) 
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46. Plaintiffs restate each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein.  

47. Defendant Law Firm violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2) by making false, deceptive, 

and/or misleading representations of the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; or any 

services rendered or compensation which may be lawfully received by any debt collector for the 

collection of a debt. 

48. Plaintiffs and the putative class members are therefore entitled to actual and 

statutory damages against the Defendant Law Firm, as well as their reasonable attorney’s fees 

and costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

COUNT III - VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5)  

(Class Claim, and On Behalf of Each Plaintiff On an Individual Basis) 

 

49. Plaintiffs restate each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein. 

50. The Defendant Law Firm violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5) by threatening to take 

any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be taken.  

51. Plaintiffs and the putative class members are therefore entitled to actual and 

statutory damages against the Defendant Law Firm, as well as their reasonable attorney’s fees 

and costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

COUNT IV – VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10)  

(Class Claim, and On Behalf of Each Plaintiff On an Individual Basis) 

 

52. Plaintiffs restate each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein. 
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53. Defendant Law Firm violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) by using any false 

representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain 

information concerning a consumer.   

54. Plaintiffs and the putative class members are therefore entitled to actual and 

statutory damages against the Defendant Law Firm, as well as their reasonable attorney’s fees 

and costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

COUNT V - VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. §1692f 

(Class Claim, and On Behalf of Each Plaintiff On an Individual Basis) 

 

55. Plaintiffs restate each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein. 

56. Defendant Law Firm violated 15 U.S.C. §1692f by using unfair or unconscionable 

means to collect or attempt to collect any debt. 

57. Plaintiffs and the putative class members are therefore entitled to actual and 

statutory damages against Defendant Law Firm, as well as their reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

COUNT VIII – ABUSE OF PROCESS 

(On Behalf of Each Plaintiff On an Individual Basis) 

 

58. Plaintiffs restate each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein. 

59. Under Virginia Common Law, process is maliciously abused when it is used 

oppressively, e.g., as "a whip to force the payment of an alleged indebtedness,", or as a means of 

extortion.  

60. Defendant Law Firm violated Virginia Common Law by filing and serving the 

Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien and mailing it to Plaintiffs and the putative class members.  
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Defendant Law Firm and the Minkoff Company were not entitled to file a memorandum of 

mechanic’s lien against Plaintiffs and the putative class members, individually.  Upon 

information and belief, the Defendant Law Firm filed and served the Memorandum with an 

ulterior purpose or motive different from which such a procedure (i.e., a memoranda of 

mechanic’s lien) is intended, and thereby committed an act in the use of the legal process not 

proper in the regular prosecution of the proceedings. 

61. The filing and mailing of the Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien constitutes abuse 

of process, and was done as a whip to force the payment of the alleged indebtedness and/or as a 

means of extortion. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs, MARGARET CROWLEY, MARGARET JONAS, 

FRANCINE JUPITER, and JAY JUPITER, on behalf of themselves and the putative class 

members, move for class certification and respectfully request: 

1. A judgment on behalf of themselves individually for statutory, actual, and 

punitive damages against Defendant OFFIT KURMAN, P.C., pursuant to the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.;  

2. A judgment on behalf of the putative class members for statutory, actual, and 

punitive damages against Defendant OFFIT KURMAN, P.C., pursuant to the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.; 

3. A judgment on behalf of themselves individually against Defendants OFFIT 

KURMAN, P.C., for actual damages pursuant to Virginia Common Law; 

4. A judgment against for attorney’s fees and costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; 

5. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; 

6. For such other relief the Court deems appropriate. 

Case 1:18-cv-00996-AJT-MSN   Document 1   Filed 08/10/18   Page 12 of 13 PageID# 12



13 
 

 TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED.  

MARGARET CROWLEY, MARGARET 

JONAS, FRANCINE JUPITER, JAY 

JUPITER, individually and on behalf of all 

others similarly situated. 

 

         By:__/s/ Nathan D. Rozsa, Esq._________       

           Counsel 

 

Scott A. Surovell, Esquire, VSB #40278 

Nathan D. Rozsa, Esquire, VSB #77268 

SUROVELL ISAACS & LEVY PLC 

4010 University Drive, Suite 200 

Fairfax, VA 22030 

Telephone 703.277.9750 

Facsimile 703.591.9285 

SSurovell@SurovellFirm.com 

NRozsa@SurovellFirm.com 

Counsel for Plaintiffs 

 

List of Attached Exhibits 

 

EXHIBIT 1     Memorandum of Mechanic’s Lien 
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